**RECEIVED**

**May 16 2024**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Richland County  
Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

---

Opinion No. 2023-UP-161 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 26, 2023  
Withdrawn, Substituted and Refiled June 28, 2023)

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TERRELL DENARD KNIGHTNER,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001436

---

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the Court of Appeals err in refusing to address the merits of whether the judge abused his discretion in ordering placement on the sex offender registry, after a probation violation but without a showing of good cause, because the conditional order finding that Petitioner was not required to register unless there was a violation of probation was not appealed?

## STATEMENT

On July 20, 2016, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Terrell Denard Knightner, for criminal sexual conduct in the third degree. (R. pp. 1-2). On December 13, 2016, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable L. Casey Manning, waived grand jury presentment, and pled guilty to assault and battery in the first degree. (R. pp. 3-22). Robert Bank represented Petitioner at the plea. Sandra Mosier appeared on behalf of the State. Judge Manning sentenced Petitioner to three (3) years suspended with three (3) years of probation. (R. p. 25). Judge Manning ordered that Petitioner must abide by all sex offender conditions, that he be supervised by a sex offender agent, that he not be required to be monitored by GPS, that he is not to be placed on the sex offender registry unless there is a violation of these terms, and that the probation may terminate upon completion of sex offender counseling. (R. p. 26).

Over twenty months later, on August 29, 2018, a probation violation arrest warrant was issued. (R. pp. 27-28). On May 31, 2019, a probation revocation hearing was held before the Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin. Morgan Y. Drapeau represented Petitioner at the revocation hearing. (R. pp. 31-47). Judge Benjamin revoked probation, sentenced Mr. Knightner to sixty (60) days of incarceration, allowing for weekend time, and ordered him to register as a sex offender. (R. p. 45, lines 10-22; p. 54). On June 7, 2019, counsel for Petitioner filed a motion to reconsider, specifically challenging the order requiring sex offender registry. (R. pp. 55-59). On June 27, 2019, a hearing was held before Judge Manning on the motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 60-63). Judge Manning granted the motion to remove Petitioner from the sex offender registry without prejudice. (R. p. 64).

On July 3, 2019, the State filed a motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 65-66). On January 14, 2020, a hearing was held before Judge Manning on the State's motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 67-

83). Judge Manning took the matter under advisement. On February 7, 2020, Judge Manning reinstated Judge Benjamin's order placing Petitioner on the sex offender registry due to a violation of his bond [probation] conditions. (R. pp. 84-85). A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed on July 21, 2020.

On April 26, 2023, a three-judge panel of the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the finding of the circuit court. State v. Knightner, 2023-UP-161 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 26, 2023). The Court of Appeals found that, “. . . because Knightner did not appeal the plea court's sentencing order stating he would not be placed on the sex offender registry unless he violated the conditions of his probation, the order is the law of the case.” On May 11, 2023, a timely petition for rehearing was filed. On June 28, 2023, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing but withdrew the previous opinion and refiled a substituted opinion. State v. Knightner, 2023-UP-161 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 26, 2023, Withdrawn, Substituted and Refiled June 28, 2023). The substituted opinion did not make any substantive changes. The only change appears to be the placement of quotation marks in the language inside the parenthetical following Smith v. State, 413 S.C. 194, 196, 775 S.E.2d 696, 607 (2015), in the second paragraph of the opinion. A second petition for rehearing was filed on July 10, 2023, and denied on August 18, 2023. The petition for writ of certiorari was filed on September 12, 2023. The State filed a return on October 12, 2023. On April 16, 2024, this Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari. This brief of petitioner follows.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“A [sentencing court] has broad discretion in sentencing within statutory limits.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010). “A [sentencing court] must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for a particular defendant.” Id. The sentence imposed will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. Id. An abuse of discretion occurs when the sentence imposed was based on either an error of law or a factual conclusion not supported by evidence in the record. Id.

## ARGUMENT

**The Court of Appeals erred in refusing to address the merits of whether the judge abused his discretion in ordering placement on the sex offender registry, after a probation violation but without a showing of good cause, because the conditional order finding that Petitioner was not required to register unless there was a violation of probation was not appealed.**

On December 13, 2016, Petitioner pled guilty to assault and battery first degree before the Honorable L. Casey Manning. The prosecutor told the judge, “He is pleading guilty today to assault and battery in the first degree, and the State is recommending sex offender counseling. And if he successfully completes that counseling, he would not have to register as a sex offender.” (R. p. 5, line 25 – p. 6, lines 1-4). The prosecutor made no recommendation as to sentencing telling the judge, “Your Honor, the extent of the plea negotiations are the reduction to assault and battery first and that he complete Sex Offender Counseling.” (R. p. 13, lines 4-6). The judge asked, “And provided he successfully completes that?” (R. p. 13, lines 7-8). The prosecutor answered, “Then he will not have to register as a sex offender.” (R. p. 13, lines 9-10).

A guilty plea to assault and battery first degree does not require sex offender registry. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(D) provides, “Upon conviction, guilty plea, or plea of nolo contendere of a person of an offense not listed in this article, the presiding judge may order as a condition of sentencing that the person be included in the sex offender registry if good cause is shown by the prosecution.” Assault and battery first degree is not a listed offense. The failure to complete sex offender counseling does not trigger registry. Instead, in order to require sex offender registry based on a guilty plea to a discretionary offense, the prosecution must show good cause. In the present case, good cause for Petitioner to be included on the sex offender registry, as required by the statute, was not shown by the prosecution during the guilty plea.

The prosecutor explained that Petitioner and the complaining witness were in a brief relationship and had consensual sex. (R. p. 17, lines 1-4). The sexual relationship ended but the two remained friends. One night she went to Petitioner's house where they watched television and talked. (R. p. 17, lines 8-10). According to the prosecutor, when she decided to leave Petitioner asked her not to leave, "[a]nd there was a sexual assault of some sort that occurred." (R. p. 17, lines 13-21). Petitioner was originally charged with criminal sexual conduct third degree. (R. pp. 1-2). The case did not involve a minor. The prosecutor also told the judge that the complaining witness now lived in Maine and was not interested in returning to South Carolina to prosecute the case. (R. p. 18, lines 10-14).

At the time of the guilty plea Petitioner was thirty-two years old and had no prior criminal record. (R. p. 18, line 18 - p. 19, lines 1-13). Defense counsel made the judge aware of Petitioner's ongoing medical conditions. (R. p. 19, lines 14-19). Petitioner lived in an apartment of his own but located on the same property as his parents so that they could assist with his needs. (R. p. 19, lines 20-24). Defense counsel told the judge, "Your Honor, at the time of this incident, he didn't have a tremendous amount of experience with mature relationships, and this was obviously something that never happened before and has never happened since." (R. p. 19, line 25 - p. 20, lines 1-3).

Judge Manning sentenced Petitioner to three years suspended with three years of probation. (R. p. 25). The judge also ordered that Petitioner abide by all sex offender conditions; that he be supervised by a sex offender agent; that he not be required to be monitored by GPS; **that he not be placed on the sex offender registry unless there is a violation of these terms**; and that probation may terminate upon completion of sex offender counseling. (R. p. 26). The judge did not make a finding that good cause had been shown by the prosecution to warrant

including Petitioner on the sex offender registry. Defense counsel advised the judge that the sex offender counseling classes requested by the State typically lasted from eighteen to twenty-four months. (R. p. 20, lines 12-13). Petitioner did not appeal the probationary sentencing order that did not require sex offender registry.

On August 30, 2018, about twenty months after the plea<sup>1</sup>, a probation violation arrest warrant was obtained. (R. pp. 27-28). On March 22, 2019, Judge Manning ordered a joint DDSN/DMH competency evaluation. (R. pp. 48-53). The report found that while competent, Petitioner met the criteria for intellectually disabled. (R. p. 52).

On May 31, 2019, a probation revocation hearing was held before the Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin. (R. pp. 31-47). The agent told Judge Benjamin that Petitioner violated his probation by accessing Snapchat on social media, viewing pornography, deleting information from his phone and having contact with his minor niece and nephew. (R. p. 33, line 15 – p. 34, lines 1-6). Petitioner only had four classes left of the sex offender counseling before he was terminated from class for the violations unrelated to counseling. (R. p. 35, line 18 – p. 36, lines 1-16). Petitioner was current on all fines and fees. (R. p. 35, lines 2-5). The probation agent made a recommendation to the judge as follows:

My recommendation was to revoke 60 days and continue on supervision and to PTUP after successful completion of the sex offender counseling. He will have to reenroll, so he will have to start over the process. And, of course, it is your discretion if he is on the sex offender registry or not.

(R. p. 35, lines 7 - 15).

Although Petitioner only had four classes left to complete, defense counsel noted how Petitioner's intellectual disability delayed his completion of the sex offender counseling classes.

---

<sup>1</sup> Judge Manning ordered that probation may terminate upon the completion of sex offender counseling.

(R. p. 35, line 18 – p. 36, lines 1-4). The violation stemming from communication with minors was also explained:

Judge, the communication with his niece and nephew, while we understand that is a violation, his charge was not anything to do with criminal sexual conduct with minors, and the communication with the niece and nephew was with his mother, who is in the courtroom. She was present during that, and he was always supervised during those times.

He lives in the house behind them, which has been approved by probation, from my understanding. And so one day when she was ill and needed him to cook dinner, and that is when he was in the house, and the kids came running down.

(R. p. 36, lines 5 – 16).

Judge Benjamin found Petitioner violated conditions of probation. Judge Benjamin revoked 60 days, to be served on weekends, and ordered sex offender registry. (R. p. 54).

Judge Benjamin noted:

I'm reading the [sentencing] order, but I don't know anything about the underlying case for me to decide whether or not he needs to be on the registry or not on the registry, other than Ms. Drapeau said it had nothing to do with children. So, frankly, y'all can take it back to Judge Manning. I mean, the way the order is written is that if he violates, he goes on the registry. But that is not my order.

(R. p. 38, lines 14 – 25).

On June 7, 2019, counsel for Petitioner filed a motion to reconsider placement on the sex offender registry. (R. pp. 55-59). On June 27, 2019, a hearing on the motion to reconsider was held before Judge Manning. (R. pp. 60- 63). Counsel for Petitioner told the judge, "So, we're here to ask that Mr. Knightner be removed from the sex offender registry. Pursuant to the statute, they have to place good cause on the record to put someone on the sex offender registry." (R. p. 61, lines 10- 14). On June 27, 2019, the same day as the hearing, Judge Manning signed an order granting, without prejudice, the motion to remove Petitioner from the sex offender registry. (R. p. 64).

On July 3, 2019, the State filed a motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 65-66). The State asserted that the Solicitor's Office was not notified of the June 27, 2019, hearing on the motion to reconsider placement of Petitioner on the sex offender registry and asked to be heard on the issue. On January 14, 2020, a hearing was held before Judge Manning on the issue of sex offender registry. (R. pp. 67-83). Counsel for Petitioner argued that the violations of probation did not provide good cause for Petitioner to be placed on the sex offender registry. (R. p. 78, lines 11-16). The judge asked both sides for proposed orders as to the sex offender registry. (R. p. 80, line 23 – p. 81, line 1; lines 18-25).

On February 7, 2020, Judge Manning signed an order granting the State's motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 84-85). In the order Judge Manning wrote, "The order signed on June 27, 2019 by this Court shall hereby be rescinded and Judge Benjamin's order of May 31, 2019 placing the Defendant Terrell Knightner onto the sex offender registry due to a violation of his bond [probation] conditions shall be reinstated." (R. p. 85). The violations of probation did not provide good cause to require sex offender registry. The judge erred.

In affirming the judge's decision to place Petitioner on the sex offender registry the Court of Appeals wrote:

Initially, because Knightner did not appeal the plea court's sentencing order stating he would not be placed on the sex offender registry unless he violated the condition of his probation, the order is the law of the case. See Smith v. State, 413 S.C. 194, 196, 775 S.E.2d 696, 697 (2015) ("[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case." (alteration in original) (quoting Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012))). Additionally, the probation court could not alter provisions in the sentencing order because only the plea court had the authority to determine whether Knightner must register as a sex offender as a condition of his sentencing. See In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010) ("A [sentencing court] has broad discretion in sentencing within statutory limits."); id. ("A [sentencing court] must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the

proper sentence for a particular defendant.”); *id.* (“A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.”); S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(D) (Supp. 2022) (“Upon ... guilty plea ... of a person of an offense not listed in this article, the presiding judge may order as a condition of sentencing that the person be included in the sex offender registry if good cause is shown by the prosecution.”); *State v. Davis*, 375 S.C. 12, 17, 649 S.E.2d 178, 180 (Ct. App. 2007) (“The statute's plain language dictates that the court's authority for placing individuals in the Registry exists only as a condition of sentencing.”); *id.* at 16, 649 S.E.2d at 180 (“[O]nce the Sentencing Judge's order became final, neither he, nor the Probation Judge would be permitted to alter the sentence he had handed down.”). As a result, the sentencing order required the probation court to order Knightner to register as a sex offender when he violated his parole, and the plea court properly granted the State's motion to reconsider, reinstating the probation court's order.

*State v. Knightner*, No. 2020-001018, 2023 WL 3093108, at \*1 (S.C. Ct. App. Apr. 26, 2023).

The Court of Appeals erred. The sentencing order was conditional and did not become final until Petitioner was ordered to register as a sex offender on February 7, 2020. An appeal of the conditional order which did not require Petitioner to register as a sex offender, unless he violated probation, would have been dismissed as interlocutory and not yet ripe for review. Petitioner timely challenged the sex offender registry requirement when it was ordered on February 7, 2020, after a finding that Petitioner violated the conditions of his probation. The State failed to show good cause to require Petitioner to register as a sex offender. The violation of probation is not sufficient to show good cause. The order placing Petitioner on the sex offender registry on February 7, 2020, without a finding of good cause, was timely appealed and the Court of Appeals should have addressed the merits and order that Petitioner be removed from the sex offender registry.

## Ripeness

In Joseph v. S.C. Dep't of Lab., Licensing & Regul., 417 S.C. 436, 466, 790 S.E.2d 763, 779 (2016), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

“Before any action can be maintained, a justiciable controversy must be present.” Sloan v. Geenville Cnty., 356 S.C. 531, 546, 590 S.E.2d 338, 346 (Ct. App. 2003). “A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy appropriate for judicial determination, as opposed to a dispute or difference of a contingent, hypothetical or abstract character.” Id. “The concept of justiciability encompasses the doctrines of ripeness, mootness, and standing.” Id. at 547, 590 S.E.2d at 546.

Judge Manning’s sentencing order with regard to the sex offender registry was contingent upon the finding of a probation violation. No justiciable controversy existed until there was a probation violation. The controversy with regard to the sex offender registry did not become ripe until there was a probation violation and Petitioner was ordered to register as a sex offender.

The sentencing order did not become final until February 7, 2020, when Judge Manning ordered Petitioner to register as a sex offender. See also In Int. of Francis Richard G., 296 S.C. 185, 371 S.E.2d 520 (1988) (holding Department of Youth Services' retention of custody over a juvenile, who was found guilty of murder and sentenced to Department for indeterminate period not to exceed 30 years, was not mandatory but discretionary and juvenile could be released at time of his twenty-first birthday and thus, his claim on appeal that family court lacked jurisdiction to sentence a juvenile to an indeterminate sentence pursuant to a statute did not present a justiciable controversy and the issues raised were not ripe for judicial determination); State v. Tucker, 376 S.C. 412, 656 S.E.2d 403 (Ct. App. 2008) (finding that challenge to plea agreement waiving post-conviction relief claims was not ripe for review because Tucker had not yet filed for post-conviction relief).

Any appeal prior to a probation violation would have been dismissed as interlocutory. In Ex parte Wilson, 367 S.C. 7, 12–13, 625 S.E.2d 205, 208 (2005), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

As a general rule, only final judgments are appealable. Culbertson v. Clemens, 322 S.C. 20, 23, 471 S.E.2d 163, 164 (1996). Any judgment or decree, leaving some further act to be done by the court before the rights of the parties are determined, is interlocutory and not final. Mid-State Distribs., Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc., 310 S.C. 330, 336, 426 S.E.2d 777, 780 (1993). See also Good v. Hartford Accident Indemn. Co., 201 S.C. 32, 21 S.E.2d 209 (1942) (“a final judgment is one which operates to divest some right in such a manner as to put it beyond the power of the Court making the order to place the parties in their original condition after the expiration of the term ....”).

In finding that the unappealed sentencing order from December of 2016, was the law of the case, the Court of Appeals overlooked the fact that the sex offender requirement was contingent upon a violation of probation. As a result, the sentencing order did not become final until February 7, 2020, when Petitioner was ordered to register as a sex offender as a result of the probation violation. Petitioner timely challenged the sex offender registry requirement. The Court of Appeals erred in refusing to address the merits and find that the State failed to show good cause.

#### **The merits – No Good Cause Shown**

S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(D) provides, “Upon conviction, guilty plea, or plea of nolo contendere of a person of an offense not listed in this article, the presiding judge may order as a condition of sentencing that the person be included in the sex offender registry if good cause is shown by the prosecution.” Assault and battery first degree, the charge to which Petitioner pled guilty, is not a listed offense. As a result, the State was required to show good cause. The State failed to show good cause.

In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 692 S.E.2d 541 (2010), the South Carolina Supreme Court held “that a finding of good cause in this context means only that the judge must consider the facts and circumstances of the case to make the determination of whether or not the evidence indicates a risk to reoffend sexually.” Id. at 327, 692 S.E.2d at 542. The Court held that the lower court did not abuse its discretion in requiring M.B.H. to register, where the solicitor showed good cause:

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