STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

May 17 2024

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Richland County
Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge
Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2023-001436

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TERRELL DENARD KNIGHTNER,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the circuit court judges' rulings because both the plea judge and the probation revocation hearing judge correctly enforced the unambiguous and unappealed sentencing order issued by the plea judge, which required Knightner to register as a sex offender if he failed to comply with the terms of the sentencing order, after Knightner was determined to have violated the conditions of his probation a little less than two years after the sentencing order was issued and had become final.

Knightner contends the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the circuit court judges' ruling requiring him to register as a sex offender. As support for that contention, Knightner maintains Judge Manning's sentencing order requiring him to register as a sex offender if and when he violated the conditions of his probation could not be challenged at the time it was issued and, instead, was only ripe for challenge and review once a probation violation occurred.⁶

⁶ Although Knightner now appears to maintain there was no basis to challenge the sentencing order's registration requirement until he actually violated the terms of his probation, defense counsel—in the motion for reconsideration filed in response to Judge Benjamin's order—took the position Judge Manning's sentencing order was invalid *from the outset* because Judge Manning elected not to place Knightner on the sex offender registry at the time of sentencing. (R. p. 59). Thus, defense counsel believed and argued there were flaws with the sentencing order that—from the moment it was issued—rendered it invalid and prevented it from *ever* being enforced. See State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 315-316, 642 S.E.2d 582, 588 (2007) (explaining an issue conceded at trial cannot be asserted later on appeal); see also State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”). And, defense counsel's belief and argument in that regard was fully consistent with the logical rule a potentially-years-later probation revocation hearing—which is something that frequently occurs after a criminal defendant receives the benefit of being granted probation instead of being subjected to a sentence requiring immediate incarceration—may not properly be used to raise an untimely challenge to the validity or legality of the probationer's conviction or original sentence. See United States v. Castro-Verdugo, 750 F.3d 1065, 1069 (9th Cir. 2014) (explaining “a court tasked with conducting or reviewing probation revocation proceedings may not investigate the validity of the original sentence”); United States v. Gerace, 997 F.2d 1293, 1295 (9th Cir. 1993) (“An appeal challenging a probation revocation proceeding is not the proper avenue through which to attack the validity of the original sentence.”); State v. Tobey, 548 N.W.2d 95, 96 (Wis. Ct. App. 1996) (explaining a defendant cannot validly withhold raising issues with an original conviction and sentence and then later raise those issues only after his probation has been revoked and he is dissatisfied “with the outcome of his sentencing after probation revocation”); cf. Wilkerson v. State, 171 P.3d 671, 673 (Kan. Ct. App. 2007) (“The appeal of a probation revocation may properly be considered a

Knightner further maintains he should not have been ordered to register as sex offender because good cause was never shown while contending the violation of probation was not sufficient to constitute the necessary good cause. Contrary to Knightner’s contentions, Judge Manning heard and accepted Knightner’s guilty plea in connection to his sexual assault of his victim and, consistent with the parties’ plea negotiations, validly ordered Knightner to register as a sex offender if he failed to comply with the conditions of his probation. And, just as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, that sentencing order was not appealed and, as a result, was final and became the law of the case. Based on that, Judge Benjamin correctly enforced that unappealed final order when Knightner violated the conditions of his probation a little less than two years after the sentencing order was issued and—just as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized—properly required him to register as a sex offender in a manner consistent with the order’s mandates. For the same reasons, Judge Manning correctly reinstated Judge Benjamin’s order after initially incorrectly rescinding it. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals committed no error by affirming the circuit court judges’ rulings on appeal. Both the decision of the Court of Appeals and the order requiring Knightner to register as a sex offender should be affirmed.

A. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded Judge Manning’s unappealed sentencing order had become final and was the law of the case.

Pursuant to South Carolina law, a circuit court judge generally “is without authority to consider a criminal matter once the term of court during which judgment was entered expires.” State v. Warren, 392 S.C. 235, 238, 708 S.E.2d 234, 235 (Ct. App. 2011); see State v. Hinson,

‘direct appeal’ thereof, but it may not raise issues related to the original conviction or sentence. Wilkerson’s motion was *not* time barred to the extent he wished to assert a proper challenge to aspects of the probation revocation, including ineffective assistance of counsel at that proceeding. The problem with his motion is that it does not challenge any aspect of the probation revocation, but rather attempts to challenge aspects of his plea and his sentence when no motion to set aside his plea was filed and no direct appeal was taken from any aspect of these initial proceedings.” (citation omitted)).

303 S.C. 92, 94, 399 S.E.2d 422, 422 (1990) (“It is a long-standing rule of law that a trial judge is without jurisdiction to consider a criminal matter once the term of court during which judgment was entered expires.”). Significantly, that general rule is inapplicable *only* when either: (1) a timely post-trial motion is filed; or (2) a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence is filed. State v. Campbell, 376 S.C. 212, 215, 656 S.E.2d 371, 373 (2008); see State v. Pfeiffer, 427 S.C. 10, 13, 828 S.E.2d 764, 766 (2019) (“In a criminal case, once the term of court ends, the trial court lacks jurisdiction to consider additional matters unless a party files a timely post-trial motion.”). Thus, absent the filing of a timely post-trial motion or a specific type of new trial motion, a circuit court judge lacks the authority to act in a particular matter once the term of court has ended. Campbell, 376 S.C. at 215, 656 S.E.2d at 373; see Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP (“Except for motions for new trials based on after-discovered evidence, post-trial motions shall be made within ten (10) days after the imposition of the sentence.”). Meanwhile, pursuant to the law-of-the-case doctrine, a ruling becomes the law of the case regardless of whether it is right or wrong *when it is not appealed*. State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 28, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012).

In the case sub judice, Judge Manning—as part of the sentence he imposed upon Knightner after Knightner pled guilty to first-degree assault and battery in connection to his sexual assault of his victim—ordered Knightner would not be required to register as a sex offender *unless* he violated the conditions of his probation. Following that, Knightner did not appeal—timely or otherwise—any aspect of Judge Manning’s sentencing order, including the portion of it that Knightner now contends was invalid because no expressly-articulated finding of

good cause was made.⁷ As a result, that order became final, was controlling in Knightner’s case going forward, and could not validly be changed or ignored, including when Knightner was adjudged to have violated the conditions of his probation over two years later. See Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (“[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.”); see also State v. Best, 257 S.C. 361, 368, 186 S.E.2d 272, 275 (1972) (“Under our judicial system the presiding judge in the Circuit Court loses jurisdiction with the adjournment of the term. It follows that after the adjournment of the term of court at which sentence is imposed the judge is without authority to change, amend or modify it.” (citations omitted)); cf. Tant v. South Carolina Dep’t of Corr., 408 S.C. 334, 342-343, 759 S.E.2d 398, 402 (2014) (“The judge sent the letter two-and-a-half years after sentencing and at that point no longer had jurisdiction over the case. Therefore, Judge Saunders was without jurisdiction to make any subsequent pronouncement concerning Tant’s sentence.” (citation omitted)). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals committed no error whatsoever in finding Judge Manning’s unappealed sentencing order was the law of the case under the circumstances involved. See Black, 400 S.C. at 28, 732 S.E.2d at 890 (instructing an unappealed ruling—

⁷ The likely reason Knightner did not initiate an appeal was he *agreed* to the very aspect of his sentence he now seeks to challenge as part of the plea negotiations. (R. pp. 5-6; pp. 13-14). Critically, because he agreed to it, Knightner cannot properly—and should not be permitted to—now complain about it merely because he suffered the specified consequences after failing to uphold his end of the plea bargain he struck with the State. See Stites v. State, 829 N.E.2d 527, 529 (Ind. 2005) (instructing a “defendant may not enter a plea agreement calling for an illegal sentence, benefit from that sentence, and then later complain that it was an illegal sentence” (citation and internal quotations omitted)); cf. Seale v. State, 311 So. 3d 1036, 1037 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2021) (“Because Appellant agreed to the sentence he received, the sentence is not illegal.”). Otherwise, the agreement upon which the guilty plea was based would be rendered meaningless, and the outcome would not be consistent with what the State agreed to when it reduced Knightner’s charge from one that would have *required* sex offender registration upon conviction. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(C); see United States v. Ringling, 988 F.2d 504, 506 (4th Cir. 1993) (“Plea bargains rest on contractual principles, and each party should receive the benefit of its bargain.”).

regardless of whether it is right or wrong—becomes the law of the case). Both the decision of the Court of Appeals and the order requiring Knightner to register as a sex offender should be affirmed.

B. The Court of Appeals correctly determined Judge Benjamin had no authority to alter Judge Manning’s unappealed sentencing order and, therefore, properly ordered Knightner to register as a sex offender in a manner consistent with the sentencing order after he violated the conditions of his probation.

One potential consequence of a criminal conviction in South Carolina is the offender may be ordered to register as a sex offender. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(A). If an offender is convicted of certain specified offenses, a trial judge must order that offender to so register. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(C). Meanwhile, if an offender is convicted of a crime not automatically mandating registration, a trial judge can discretionarily order that offender “as a condition of sentencing” to register as a sex offender “if good cause is shown by the prosecution.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(D); see M.B.H., 387 S.C. at 327, 692 S.E.2d at 542 (“[A] finding of good cause in this context means only that the judge must consider the facts and circumstances of the case to make the determination of whether or not the evidence indicates a risk to reoffend sexually.”).

At the time of sentencing in the case at bar, Judge Manning issued a sentencing order requiring Knightner to register as a sex offender if and only if he subsequently violated the conditions of his probation.⁸ And, as previously noted, that sentencing order was not appealed

⁸ By ordering—in a manner consistent with the plea negotiations—Knightner to be required to register as a sex offender if he could not successfully complete his probationary term and its accompanying sex offender conditions while simultaneously setting out a path by which Knightner could avoid such a registration requirement entirely merely by complying, Judge Manning appeared to implicitly recognize Knightner’s guilty plea to an offense that was sexual in nature constituted obvious evidence of a risk to reoffend. See Smith v. Doe, 538 U.S. 84, 103 (2003) (instructing “[t]he risk of recidivism posed by sex offenders is ‘frightening and high’ ” and explaining it is valid to conclude a conviction for a sex offense provides evidence of “substantial risk of recidivism”); cf. State v. Fraley, 437 S.C. 135, 137, 876 S.E.2d 703, 705 (Ct. App. 2022) (recognizing a circuit court judge can validly consider the fact a defendant pled

and, thus, became the law of Knightner's case. See Smith v. State, 413 S.C. 194, 196, 775 S.E.2d 696, 697 (2015) (recognizing an unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case regardless of whether it was right or wrong).

Under such circumstances, Judge Benjamin was bound to enforce that unappealed sentencing order and was wholly without authority to alter or ignore its terms. See Tisdale v. Am. Life Ins. Co., 216 S.C. 10, 13, 56 S.E.2d 580, 581 (1949) ("It is *axiomatic* (1) that an order not appealed from is the law of the case, and (2) a Circuit Judge does not have the power to reverse the ruling of another Circuit Judge." (emphasis added)); see also Dinkins v. Robbins, 203 S.C. 199, ___, 26 S.E.2d 689, 690 (1943) ("The rule is well settled that the prior order of one Circuit Judge may not be modified by the subsequent order of another Circuit Judge, except in cases when the right to do so has been reserved to the succeeding Judge, when it is allowed by rule of court or statute, or when the subsequent order does not alter or substantially affect the ruling or decision represented by the previous order."). Accordingly, just as the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, Judge Benjamin did not abuse her discretion or commit any other error of law by faithfully complying with the terms of the sentencing order and by validly ordering Knightner to register as a sex offender as was required by the order when he violated the conditions of his probation, and Judge Manning likewise did not commit any error by correctly reinstating Judge Benjamin's proper order after he initially incorrectly rescinded it. Cf. State v. Davis, 375 S.C. 12, 16, 649 S.E.2d 178, 180 (Ct. App. 2007) ("[O]nce the Sentencing Judge's order became final, neither he, nor the Probation Judge would be permitted to alter the sentence he had handed down."). Both the decision of the Court of Appeals and the order requiring Knightner to register as a sex offender should be affirmed.

guilty to a crime of a sexual nature when determining whether "good cause" for ordering him to register as a sex offender has been shown).

CONCLUSION


For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted the decision of the Court of Appeals and the judgment and conviction of the trial court should be affirmed.